CITY OF HANOVER
PLANNING COMMISSION WORKSHOP
DECEMBER 15, 2021
OFFICIAL MINUTES

Call to Order
Stan Kolasa called the December 15, 2021, Planning Commission Workshop to order at 6:01 pm in person.
Members present were Stan Kolasa, Jim Schendel, Dean Kuitunen, Mike Christenson, and Gretchen Barrett.
Also present City Planner Cindy Nash, City Engineer Nick Preisler, Council Liaison Jim Zajicek, City
Administrator Jennifer Nash, and Administrative Assistant Amy Biren. Chad Brink, Big Bore BBQ, was also
in attendance.

Kolasa had Nash begin the discussion for the parking ordinance.

Nash said that she, Preisler, and J. Nash met to brainstorm possible options for obtaining parking spaces,
specifically in the B1 Zoning District, Downtown River Commercial. Those options are outlined in the memo,
but Nash directed the Board to first look at the draft parking amendment.

The requirement for off-street parking spaces for bars and restaurants is currently calculated at 2.5 seats per
parking space. As discussed in the previous meeting, changing the calculation to 90 square feet per parking
space would provide a more generous calculation in favor of the restaurant or bar owner. Using the seating
calculation is too variable as tables and chairs can be moved from one area to another.

A proof of parking section was proposed for the ordinance which would grant a deferment on the construction
of parking spaces as long it was shown that there was proof the parking spaces could be provided in the future.
This is not a benefit to bars and restaurants, but would give a benefit to other zoning districts. The proof of
parking deferment would have to be accepted by the City Council and would be recorded.

Nash directed the Board to a newly proposed section which would give businesses in the B1 Zoning District two
options for providing parking. Both options would apply only to properties within Wright County. It would not
apply to the Hennepin County side of the B1 Zoning District as there is not any street parking available being
on CSAH 19 or walkability. The first option would allow any type of business property owner to supply a
reduced number of parking spaces on an off-site private property and grants a perpetual easement to the public
for parking use. In exchange for every one public parking spot, the property owner would receive two credits
towards their parking space requirement. This gives the property owner some relief when providing shared
parking. The second option allows the City to offer the business property owner the opportunity to pay for the
construction of publicly owned parking spaces in locations that are acceptable to the City. It would be at the
expense of the property owner and a reduction of the number of required spaces would be reduced as in Option
1 with one public parking space giving the property owner the equivalent of two parking spaces toward their
requirement. A developer’s agreement would be needed. Nash gave the example of a similar situation during
the Fehn/Mahler Pit interim use permit where a developer’s agreement was created for Fehn to reconstruct 151
Street at their expense.

Nash explained that there are other options, but none that would meet the current issue’s timeline.

Barrett confirmed the proposed 90 square foot requirement for parking calculations and asked for the number of
parking spaces that would be required for the River Inn. Nash said that 143 parking spaces are needed based on
the inside and outside (patio, etc.) square footage. Zajicek asked how this was computed. Nash explained, using
the chart that was provided in the memo from the November 22, 2021, meeting.

Barret asked for confirmation that it would include the kitchen area and the storage areas. Nash stated that it
would include those areas, but that the upstairs apartments were not included in the calculation. Nash said that
the storage building on the west side of the property is being included based on future plans to turn it into a pizza
area. Zajicek said that it is not possible for the River Inn to meet the parking requirements.



Chad Brink, Big Bore BBQ, said that prior to purchasing an extra lot, he would have not been able to meet the
parking requirements.

Christenson said that he asked himself what would be the minimum parking spaces he would be comfortable
with and determined there needed to be spaces for employees, the apartments, handicap parking and if they have
any business vehicles that would need parking. That minimum would be 50 parking spaces.

Nash reiterated that the proposed amendments are moving towards calculable components, not variable.

Christenson responded he was trying to come up with a suitable number and then a method of getting to the
number needed. There still would be a gap from what is required.

Kuitunen said that the Board knows that there are currently three restaurants that realistically won’t meet the
requirements, but the Board still needs to create an ordinance.

Chad Brink, Big Bore BBQ, said that when he was working on his business plan and then site plan for the
restaurant, he didn’t realize that parking would be an issue. Currently, he has between 75-80 parking spaces on
the existing property and with the acquisition of the additional lot, he will have enough to meet the requirement
using the 90 square foot calculation or the 2.5 seat calculation. But to do that, he did have to accept the financial
burden of purchasing more property and the costs associated with turning it into additional parking. Hanover
has a parking problem in general, but he feels that the ordinance has to be fair across the board.

Nash reminded the Board that whatever is approved in the ordinance, future businesses in town will need to plan
for parking. Everyone will need to be treated equitably.

Brink explained to Zajicek that using the 90 square foot calculation works in favor of the restaurant much more
than using a seat calculation. And the square footage requirement is easily calculated. Nash concurred saying
that it would also lead to less disagreements and is more uniform.

Zajicek said that the downtown area doesn’t have enough parking and it needs to be looked at separately. The
Hilltop would also be in the same situation of not meeting the parking requirements. Nash said that with the
drafted ordinance, the options are giving property owners a two-for-one (2-1) discount. Hopefully, the sharing
of public parking spaces is offset with some businesses using the spaces in the day and others using it at night.

Zajicek asked what the costs is per parking space. Preisler explained that parking space costs are variable
depending on the location and can range from between $7,500 to $15,000 per space. Preisler said that the cost
of the City-owned parking lot included the acquisition of the property at a value that would not be possible today
or in the future.

Nash said that ultimately, businesses need parking. Who provides the parking and who pays for it needs to be
determined. If the City pays for another parking lot it comes at the cost to the taxpayers of Hanover. Kuitunen
reminded the Board what the businesses and restaurants in downtown pay for taxes in comparison to having the
taxpayers pay for a parking lot.

Barrett said that part of the Comprehensive Plan is to have a downtown. The Board needs to figure out parking
for future planning.

Christenson said that this is the challenge of having an ordinance that can be met and the possibility of variances
being needed.

Nash said it needs to be considered since the River Inn is asking for two variances, one for a reduction in the
number of parking spaces required as well as a variance for a reduction in the number of parking spaces they
already have.

Nash directed the Board to the memo provided in the packet and reviewed it.



One of the options to acquire more parking spaces is to use existing properties near the River Inn. Preisler
showed the Board how the property at 11262 Crow River Drive, currently owned by the River Inn, could have
two different parking areas, one to the east on the second lot and a northern portion of the main lot with an
entrance from the property containing the apartments. Another possibility would be the triangular parcel across
the street from the River Inn, but that would require property acquisition.

Nash pointed out the portion of the Monticello parking ordinance that was included in the packet. Monticello
has a fund in which businesses pay for future parking and the City assumes the responsibility for constructing
the lots. Monticello has a plan for future parking, which Hanover does not. Calculating the construction costs
of a parking lot is needed so that enough funds are collected to cover the costs. If there is not enough collected,
the City would assume the costs. Unfortunately, there is not a plan like this in Hanover, so it would not provide
relief to the businesses at this time.

Nash said that changes to the ordinance are needed.

Kuitunen said that there are properties that will need variances, but that property owners need to have a stake in
the results.

Schendel said that everyone needs to be treated equally. Nash reiterated that everyone needs to be treated
equitably, the same type of business is treated in the same manner.

Zajicek said he does not think the extra areas such as the kitchen and the storage areas should be counted in the
square footage.

Zajicek continued saying that it is the City’s responsibility to supply parking downtown and is going to have to
buy more parking. Kolasa replied that something is needed, but if downtown is all parking, then future
development cannot happen. Zajicek stated the City should buy the house and turn the property into a parking
lot. Schendel replied that the City would need to buy the lot owned by Big Bore and turn it into a parking lot as
well to make it equitable.

Zajicek stated that calculations should be made using seats, not square footage. Preisler explained that the Met
Council has moved away from using seat calculations in areas such as SAC and WAC. Hanover follows the
direction of the Met Council when determining these fees. Brink also reiterated that using square footage works
in favor of the business, and not the seat calculations. Kuitunen and Barrett also disagreed with Zajicek and
stated that square footage needs to be used to calculate parking spaces. Preisler said that if the storage building
is turned into a pizza area, and seating had been used for parking calculations, then the River Inn would be back
in the same situation. Nash said that if that conversion would occur and the square footage calculation had been
used, the River Inn would be covered as the building had already been counted in the calculation.

Barrett said she likes the idea of having the options allowing business property owners to get a two-for-one
parking space. Nash was asked if a distance from the business for the off-site parking spaces needed to be
included in the ordinance. Nash replied that a distance was not included since the downtown area is oddly shaped
and the City Council has the discretion for approval. For example, a parking lot on Beebe Lake Road would not
be beneficial to the businesses downtown.

Kuitunen reminded the Board that the City does not received taxes based on sales or alcohol from restaurants
and bars. The City only receives property taxes. Restaurants and bars need to have a stake in the parking space
requirements.

Schendel also said that the ordinance needs to look at what types of future businesses will be in Hanover.

Kuitunen said that the emotional aspects of the restaurants need to be removed from the decision making as
future owners may not be as involved in the community as the current owners.

Brink stated he would rather own the parking lot himself and assume the risk rather than sharing it.



Kolasa reminded the Board that the restaurants had the opportunity to purchase lots in the past and have passed
on the offer. He also asked if the proposed ordinance would apply to the Hilltop. Nash responded yes, it would
apply and they would more than likely have to purchase land.

Zajicek asked how many possible parking spaces could fit on the Crow River Drive property the River Inn owns.
Preisler said that between the two areas previously described, 35 spaces would easily fit.

Zajicek asked what would happen if the River Inn would just move to another city. Brink answered, saying that
he looked at several different locations in other cities and they wouldn’t work for his business plan. If a restaurant
moves to another city, the risk is present that it won’t work in the new location. Sometimes the location is part
of the experience.

Changing topics, Preisler stated that from an engineering perspective, additional off-street parking will mean
more pedestrians and more safety concerns. Improved crosswalks need to be considered, but that does not mean
pedestrians will use them.

Barrett asked if the square footage requirement could be limited to certain zoning districts. Nash advised against
that since justification would be needed and it could create an unfair situation.

Kolasa said that the Board is on the right track and the future needs to be considered.

Nash explained to the Board that if reductions in parking space calculations are wanted, it can be mitigated in a
variance. Kuitunen clarified that variances can be granted with an approved ordinance. Nash concurred.
Kuitunen continued saying that the 90 square foot calculation is generous to property owners.

Barrett reviewed the calculations from nearby cities with the majority of them requiring 40 square feet for dining
and bar and 80 square feet for the kitchen for parking space calculations. Kuitunen said that there may be
discrepancies when determining area uses and area uses can change.

Christenson questioned whether or not a business would allow something to be recorded against their property
as outlined in Section G1 of the proposed ordinance. Nash said that sometimes shared parking is the only option.
Kuitunen also said that the proposed amendment gives options.

Barrett, Kuitunen, and Schendel agreed that the 90 square feet calculation should be used.

Nash commented that it is difficult to review site plans with an unclear ordinance.

Board members agreed that Nash may present the draft and provisions at the next Planning Commission meeting.
Adjournment

MOTION by Schendel to adjourn, seconded by Kuitunen.

Motion carried unanimously.

Meeting adjourned at 7:36 pm.

ATTEST:

Amy L. Biren
Administrative Assistant



